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7
JOSE QUEZADA
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Plaintiff,

9 ORDERGRANTING

V. DEFENDANTS'MOTION FOR

10 SUMMARY JUDGMENT

CITY OF ENTIAT; and SUSAN
11{| DRIVER, individually,

12 Defendand.
13
14 BEFORE THE COURTs Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment, ECF

15{| No. 5. The Court heard oral argument on this motion on August 21, Zlx8y

16|| M. Kaneappeared on beti of Plaintiff Jose Quezadalames EBakerappeared on
17|| behalf of Defendants City of Entiat and Susan Dricefléctively,“Defendants”).
18| The Court has considered the parties’ arguments, has reviewed the pleadings and the
18|| record, and is fully informed
20|/ 11

21\ 1 11

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT~ 1

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/washington/waedce/2:2018cv00118/80796/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/washington/waedce/2:2018cv00118/80796/15/
https://dockets.justia.com/

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

18

20

21

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Mr. Quezada initially brought this action Washingtorstate couralleging
claims against Defendants faplations ofthe Washingtohaw Against
Discrimination (“WLAD”), Wash. Rev. Code £9.60.180breach of comact;
breach of promise of specific treatment in specific circumstaacesvrongful
termination inviolation of public policy SeeECF No. 12. Mr. Quezada
subsequently amended his complaint to allege a federal cause of action under
U.S.C. § 1983 foviolation of due processSeeECF No. 13 at 4. Defendants then
removed the matter to federal district coE@F No. 1 and filed the present motior
for summary judgmentECF No. 5.

Proceedings initiated in state court may be removed “to the distrigt of
the United States for the district and division embracing the place where such §
Is pending.” 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a)Removal is proper here because this suit invol
a federal questionSee28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question); 28 U.S.0C446
(procedure for removal of civil actions).

Accordingly, tis Court hagurisdiction over this matter because Plaintiff ha
raised a federal question by alleging violation of due process under 42 U.S.C. {
1983, andsupplemental jurisdiction over Mr. Quezada’s Washington State law
claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

I/

11
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In early 2015, the City of Entiat, Washington decided to change th& way
would manage Entiat Park. ECF No. 6 at 3. Instead of using the Park Host, sy
in which a couple would live in the Paiide the summer and managag seasonal
employeesthe City decided to create a new position called Park Supertsat
3-4. The Park Supervisor would oversee fivefiane seasonal workers, who
completedhe taskdor whichthe Park Hostevere previously responsibland
would train for water and sewer certificatioldl. The City needed a second perso
with water and sewer certifications because it only had one person on staff witf
those certificationsld. Because the Park Supervisor position was new, the City
decided to impose a smonth probationary period, rather than the stadthree
months, to evaluate the position throughout the sumideat 4. Defendant Susan
Driver was the City Administrator/Planner for the City of Entirmbughout this
process Id. at 2.

The City hired Plaintiff Jose Quezada for the Park Supervisor positon.
Mr. Quezada is HispanicSeeECF No. 13 at 3. During Mr. Quezada’s interview,
Ms. Driver asked whethdir. Quezada had written his cover letter, to which he
responded that his wife had assisted him. ECF No. 9 at 2; ECF Naatllb
Following the interview,he City sent Mr. Quezada an offer letter on February 1(

2015. ECF No. 4 at 6. The offer letter stated that his official start date was Mg

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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2,and his continued employment depended on satisfacioperformance during
the initial six month probationary periodd.

Mr. Quezada was provided a copy of the City’s personnel policies when |
was hred. ECF No. 6 at 5. The policistate theyare not intended to be a
contract, express or implied, or any type of promise or guarantee of specific
treatment upon which [an employee] may rely, or as a guarantee of employme
any specific duration."ECF No. 61 at 9. Policy 3.4 states that an employee’s tri
period, also referred to as the probationary period, begins “[u]pon hire,” and las
to six months “from the employee’s date of hiréd: at 15. Policy 10.3 states that
upon “termination of an employee [other than trial employees], the city will cong
a pretermination hearing.’ld. at 42 (bracketed text in original). Mr. Quezada
confirmed that he received these polici&s.at 8.

Throughout Mr. Quezada’s employment in the summer of 2015, Ms. Driv
claims thashe received numerous complaints about Mr. Quezada’s work, inclu
reports ofrude and disrespectful behavior to other City staff, refusal to learn hov
maintain the irrigation system, texting and using his phone at awndckgenerally
being absent or unavailable during his work hours. ECF No. -®at\8s. Driver
prepared an internal evaluation of Mr. Quezada on June 12, B)E8.9. The
evaluation gave Mr. Quezada a poor performance reviéwsee als@&eCF No.6-1
at 4648. Mr. Quezada claims that Ms. Driver, a persoth whomhe did not work

on a daily basis, was the only person to complain about his work, and that his
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I's

supervisor, Mike Herdt, did not notice any performance issues. ECF No-4 at 3
16.

Later in the summer, Ms. Driver realizélaatthe composition of city staff left
the City in a position of liability. ECF No. 6 at 10. Whenever the Public Works
Director, Mike Herdt, was away, the City had no one on staff with water or sew
certification. Id. To fix this issue, Ms. Driver proposed to the City Couacil
reorganization of the Public Works and Park Departmddtsat 1012. The
reorganization involved eliminating the Park Supervisor posmubich wasMr.
Quezada’s positigmeinstitutingPark Hosts, and hiring a fttilme employee in
Public Workswho hadwater and sewer certificatienld. at 1:12. The City
Council adopted Ms. Driver’s proposal, and voted to eliminate the Park Supery
position on August 13, effective August 3. at 12.

Mr. Quezada alleges that he wrongfully lost his employment with the City
result of Defendants’ discriminatory condu&eeECF 13. He claimsthathe was
led to believehatthe job with the City was permanent, enticing hinketive his
preMous job and take a substantial pay decrease. ECF No. 9 at 2. Mr. Queza(
states that Ms. Driver did not like him from the moniiat he was hired, and state
that she needed to find a way to fire hild. at 34. He also claims that City
employees dén made comments directed towards Mexicddsat 4. Lastly, he

claims thathe new position in Public Works created as a part of the City’s

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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reorganization plan was essentially the same posiiith similar job dutiesthat
Mr. Quezaddadheld as Park Supervisold. at 15.
DISCUSSION

Legal Standard for Summary Judgment

A court may grant summary judgment where “there is no genuine disputs
to any material factdf a party’s prima facie casand the moving party is entitled t
judgment as a matterf law. Fed. R. Civ. P56(a); accordCelotex Corp. v. Catrett
477 U.S. 317, 3233 (1986). A genuine issue of material fact exists if sufficient
evidence supports the claimed factual dispute, requiangry or judge to resolve
the parties’ differing versiagof the truth at trial.” T.W. Elec. Serv., Inc. v. Pac.
Elec. Contractors Ass;i809 F.2d 626, 630 (9th Cir. 1987). A key purpose of
summary judgmeritis to isolate and dispose of factually unsupported claims.”
Celotex 477 U.S at 324

The moving party bears the burden of showhmgabsence of a genuine issy
of material factor in the alternative, the moving party may discharge this burdel
showing that theres an absence @vidence to support the nonmoving party’s prir
facie caseld. at 325. The burden then shifts to the nonmoving party to set forth
specific facts showing a genuine issue for triaée idat 324. The nonmoving
party “may not restiponthe mere allegationsr denials of his pleading, but his

responsgby affidavitsor as otherwise provided . must set fortlspecific facts

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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showing that there is a genuine issue for triddl’at 322 n.Jinternal quotations

omitted).
The Court will not infer evidence that does not exist in the rectes Lujan
v. Natl Wildlife Fedn, 497 U.S. 871, 8889 (1990) (court will not presume missir

facts). However, the Court will “view the evidence in the light most favorable” tq
the nonmoving partyNewmaker v. Cityfd-ortuna 842 F.3d 1108, 1111 (9th Cir.
2016). “The evidencef the nommovant is to be believed, and all justifiable
inferencesare to be drawn in his favorAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inel77 U.S.
242, 55(1986).
A. Plaintiff's Section1983 Claim

Mr. Quezada alleges that Defendants’ policies and custemesdiMr.
Quezada due process and disecausd his injuries, depriving Mr. Quezada of hig
allegedprotected property and liberty interests in his employment by the City of
Entiat. ECF No. 33 at 5. Defendants argue that Mr. Quezadattion1983 clam
fails because Mr. Quezada had no protected property interest in the probationg
employmentMr. Quezada had no liberty interd¢isat wasdeprived Mr. Quezada
cannot satisfy the requirementshdbnell as to the Cityand Ms. Driver is entitled tg
gualified immunity. SeeECF No. 5 at 410.

To satisfy the legal standard required by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, a plaintiff mu
prove that two essential elements are present in his or her GaenParratt v.

Taylor, 451 U.S. 527, 535 (1981yerturned on other grawds by Daniels v.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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Williams, 474 U.S. 327 (1986). First, the conduct complained of must be
“‘committed by a person acting under color of state lald.” Second, the plaintiff
must show that the conduct compkaiof deprived the plaintiff of some right,
privilege, or immunity secured by the Constitution or federal statutory &ee. id.

Section 1983 “contains no stai&émind requirement independent of that
necessary to state a violation of the underlying constitutional ridgdriiels v.
Williams, 474 US. 32732930(1986). In asection1983 suit, “the plaintiff must
still prove a violation of the underlying constitutional rightd. at 330.

The Court findghatthe first prongs satisfied: Ms. Driver acted under colo}
of state law. Ms. Driver was the City Administrator for Entiat during the relevar
time period. ECF No. 6 at 2. Her actions in hiramgl reorganizind/Ir. Quezada
job dutieswere in her capacity as City Administrator. Thus, the Court finddvtbat
Driver acted under color otate law. The Court next turns to whether Defendant
deprived Mr. Quezada of some underlying constitutional right.

1. Protected Property InterestClaim

Mr. Quezada alleges that Defendants deprhiedof his protected property
interestin continued, peramnent employment with the Ciiy violation of his
constitutional rights.ECF No. 13 at 5.

The Supreme Court has held that “public employees who can be dischar
only for cause have a constitutionally protected property interest in their tenure

canrot be fired without due processGilbert v. Homar 520 U.S. 924, 9229

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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S

and




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

18

20

21

(1997). However, an atill government employee generally has no claim based
the Constitution.Waters v. Churchi)l511 U.S. 661, 679 (1994).

Under Washingtostatelaw, an atwill employee does not have a protected
property right in his employmenClark v. Sears, Roebuck & Cd.1 P.3d 1230,
1232 (Wash. Ct. App. 2002}However, goroperty interest in employment can be
created by implied contracBishop v. Wood426 U.S. 81, 344 (1976).In
Washington, ammplied contract may ariseut of customs, practices, and de facto
policies. Hudson v. City of Wenatche®74 P.2d 342, 346 (Wash. Ct. App. 1999).

Defendars argue that Mr. Quezada wasatwill employee for the City of

Entiat, and, therefore, hedhao protected property interest in his employmeith

the City. ECF No. 5 at 4. Defendants assert that the City’s employment policie

specifically statehat they “do not create an employment contract or a guarantee
emgdoyment for any specific duration” and “are not intended to be a contract,
express or implied, or any type of promise or guarantee of specific treatment u
which [an employee] may relay, or as a guarantee of employment for any spec
duration.” Id. at5.

Mr. Quezada argues that Defendants created an ingaigdact forcontinued
employmentseeECF No. 8, however he fails to assert any factgrovide any
evidenceo support this contentiorte simply statethathe was “enticed” to leave
his prior position to work for the City, and during that enticemieetvas “led to

understand that the position was permanent.” ECF No. 9/Aaddtionally, he

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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appears to rely on his status as a public employee, arguingphbli@employee is
entitled to constitutional protection in addition to @mytractual protectianSee
ECF No. 8at 18. Therefore, kb argueghat he was entitled to notice and an
opportunity for “some kind of hearing” prior to his dischardgk.

Without additional evidencér. Quezadaoes notaise a genuine issue of
material fact regarding whethlee had a protected property interest in continued
employment, via implied contract or otherwise. First, Mr. Quezada’s employmé
with the City wasexpresshat-will. See Clark41 P.3d al232. As such, the City
had a right to terminate his employment at any time, as long as there was no |l
reason or motive behind the firingee Waters511 U.S. at 6734udson 974 P.2d
at 346.

Second, theres no evidence of a promise of conauemployment. While
Mr. Quezada claims that he was led to believe the employment with the City w
be permanent, no evidence before the Court supports this claim. ECF No. 9 al
While the Court will construe the evidence in the light most favortaliiér.
Quezada, the nonmoving party, the Court will not assume missing evidaree,
497 U.S. at 8889. Instead, the record supports that Mr. Quezada’s statssa
probationary atwill employee,as evidenced by the text of his offer letter dmal t
City’s personnel policies. ECF No-I6at 6, 15, 42.

Absent the promise of continued employment, Mr. Quezada still argues t

he was entitled to a ptermination hearing because he was no longer a trial or

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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probationary employee when his position was eliminated on August 31. ECF N
at 19. He claims that his employment started on Februathd day he received
his offer letter, and argues that his probationary status ended on Aug28130,
before hisAugust 31termination. Id. Defendants clan thathis probationary period
did not begin to run until March, 2015 Mr. Quezada’s start datand his
probationarystatus continued untiis position was eliminated. ECF No. 11 at 2.
The text upon which Mr. Quezada relies states as follows: “Uperoh

appointment, all employees enter a trial period that is considered an integral pa

the selection and evaluation process. . . . The normal trial period is three montk

from the employee’s date of hire, rehire or promotion. The Mayor may authbez

supervisor to extend the trial period up to an additional three (3) months.” ECH
6-1 at 15.
The policy statethatthe purpose of the trial period is “to give the employe

time to learn the job and to give the supervisor time to evaluate evliethmatch

between the employee and the job is appropridte."There is no evidence that M.

Quezada began higork prior to March 2, 2015Considering thaMr. Quezada was

not doing work for the City between February 10 and Mar@925,it makesno

sense for the probationary period to staradatebefore he actually begins the

work, because there would be no opportunity for a supervisor to evaluate him
The policy further statethat“[o]nce the trial period is successfully

completed, the employee may be certified to regular employment st&dduslChere

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT~11
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IS no evidence in this case that Mr. Quezada was ever certified to regular
employment status following August 121)15,when he claimghathis probationary
period ended. Therefore, the Colimtls that Mr. Quezada was still a triar
probationaryemployee when his position was terminated on Augus2@15

The Court finds that Mr. Quezada was amwatemployee for the City of
Entiat during the relevant periodAdditionally, Mr. Quezda was not entitled to a

pretermination hearing because he was still a tnigrobationaryemployee.

| =4

Therefore, Mr. Quezadauffered no deprivation of a property interest because he
had no property interest in continued employnveitit the City of Entat

2. Protected Liberty Interest Claim

Mr. Quezada also alleges that Defendants dephiraaf his protected
liberty intereswithout due proces violation ofsection1983. ECF No. B at 5.

In order to prevail on a claim of deprivation of libevtithout due process of
law, a plaintiff must first establish the existence of a liberty inteMikinson v.
Austin,545 U.S. 209, 221 (2005) he courts require “ecareful descriptionof the
assertedundamentaliberty interest’ as well as a demonstration that the interest |s

“objectively, ‘deeplyrooted in this Nation’s history and tradition .and‘implicit

=

in the concept of ordered libertyguch thatneither liberty nor justice would exist |i
it] was sacrificed” Washington v. Gluckshg 521 U.S. 702, 72Q1 (1997)
(internal citations omitted)The relevant question is not whether the asserted

interest “is consistent with [the United States Supreme Court’s] substdntve

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT~12
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process line of cases” but whether it is supported by “this Nation’s history and
practice.” Id. at 72324.

Defendants argue thBtaintiff cannot identify a fundament#berty interest
or astatute thatonfers on him a liberty interest protected by the Due Process
Clause.SeeECF No. 5 at &. Defendants contend that Mr. Quezaithnot have a
liberty interest and therefore could not have bdeprived of his libertynterest
when the City eliminated the Park Supervigosition Id. Therefore, Mr. Quezadal

lacks a due process liberty clairal.

Mr. Quezada fiss to respond to Defendants’ argumenitso present any facts

in support of his assertion regarding the alleged constitutional violation of his lil
interest The Court will not infer evidence that does not exist in the rectes
Lujan, 497 U.Sat88889. Therefore, the Court finds that Mr. Quezada cannot
prevail onhis claim of deprivation of liberty without due process of law.

3. The City’s Section 1983 Liability UnderMonell

Even though the Court finds that Mr. Quezada was not deprivethef a
property or liberty interest by the City of Entiat or Ms. Driver, the Court will ana
81983 liability issues to complete the record.

To successfully advance a claim under section 1983 against the City of B
Mr. Quezadanustmeet the requiraents ofMonell. See Monell vDep't of Soc.
Servs. of the City of N.Y436 U.S. 658, 6901 (1978) UnderMonell, a city is only

liable under section 1988(1) the constitutional violation resulted from a

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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government policy, practice, or custom; (2) the person who committed the harn
a person with final policynaking authority, meaning the act itself constituted
government policy; or (3) an official with final poliapaking authority ratified the
unconstitutional actGillette v. Delmore979 F.2dl342, 134647 (9th Gr. 1992).

A plaintiff must prove that one of the thr®nell requirements is met to be
successful in section 1983 litigation against a municipal b&#e Bd. Of Cty.
Comm’rsof Bryan Cty., Oklav. Brown 520 U.S. 397, 4684 (1997).

Defendantargue thaMr. Quezadaannotsatisfythe Monell requirements
because he cannot pototany “formal governmental policy éwngstanding
practice or custoimnthat caused his terminatio®eeECF No. 5 at 8 (quoting
Gillette, 979 F.2dat 134647 (internal quotations omitted)). Defendants argue thg
because Mr. Quezada has not satisfied the requiremevisned], he cannot pursue
his section 1983 claim against the City of Entiat.

Mr. Quezadaontends that Ms. Driver was an official with “final policy
making authority,'that she made decisions with deliberate indifference to knowt
consequences that were ratified by the City of Entiat, and that her deliberate
indifference diredy resuledin Mr. Quezada’s constitutional deprivatioBeeECF
No. 8 at 20.

Regarding the policy, custom, or practice pronfylohell, a plaintiff may
show thisMonellrequirement by pointing to “widespread practices or evidence (¢

repeated constitutional violations” among the municipal bddydell v. Las Vegas

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT~ 14
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Metro. Police Deft, 268 F.3d 924, 929 (9th Cir. 200nternal quotations omitted)
To survive summary judgemt Plaintiff must submit evidence that the municipal
body’s constitutional violations led to an inferred or internalized municipal custg
or policy. See Menotti v. City of Seaftl09 F.3d 1113, 11489 (9th Cir. 2005)
(finding dispute of material fact on question of municipal policy given plaintiffs’
evidence of city’s widespread practices of repeated constitutional violations).

Here, Mr. Queada has presented no evidence to support the fact that he
fired under a municipal policy, practice, or custom. No evidence in the record
indicatesthat there was a pattern or practice thatCity promised longerm
employment, created a right to continued employment, and then fired employe
without pretermination hearings. Mr. Quezada cannot meet his burden totlsaby,
he was fired due to a policy, practice, or custom of Entiat.

“For a person to be a final policymaker, he or she must be isitiomoof
authority such that a final decision by that person may appropriately be attribut
the [government body.]Lytle v. Car| 382 F.3d 978, 983 (9th Cir. 2004
identifying whether an actor is a person with final peinegiking authority, theourt
asks whether the person has authority “in a particular @res a particular issue.”
McMillian v. Monroe Cty,.520 U.S. 781, 785 (1997). For example, when the
Supreme Court considered a case regarding an employee transfer, the questio

wheter the government actor “possessed final policymaking authority in the ar

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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employee transfers.Jett v. Dallas Indep. Sch. Dis#91 U.S. 701, 738 (1989).
State law defines whether a particular person is a final policymédkeat 737.

Again, Mr. Quezada has presented no evidence to prove that Ms. daser
in a position of final policymaking authorifgr eliminating city positionsThere is
no evidence that Ms. Driver, personally, made the final decision to eliminate th
Park Supervisor posiin. The record spportsthat Ms. Driver submitted her
reorganization plan tthe City Council and the Mayowhich was adopted by them
resulting inMr. Quezada terminaton. ECF No. 6 at 12. That evidence supports
the conclusion that Ms. Drivelid na have final policymaking authority on the
matter of eliminating positions of employmerdl.

Mr. Quezadalso contendthatMs. Driver'sdecision was ratified by
someone with final policymaking authority, thereby satisfyingtivel methodof
establishingMonell liability. Here, Ms. Driver’s reorganization plan was approve
by the City Council, which led to the elimination of Mr. Quezada'’s position. ECI
No. 6 at 1112. While Mr. Quezadeited nospecificstate or local law indicating
that Entiat’'s City Council possessed final policymaking authority, the Court
concludethat the City Council is the final policymaking authority of Enti&ee
Hopper v. City of Pasc&®41 F.3d 1067, 1083 (9th Cir. 2001) (holding city counc
possessed final policymaking authority for a city in Washington). Because the
Council approved the reorganization plan, which eliminated Mr. Quezada’s pos

the City Councikould be deemed aatifying Ms. Driver’s decisioro reorganize

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT ~ 16
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If Mr. Quezada had been deprivethis property or liberty interests without
due process, which the Court concludes that he watheot:-ntiat mayhavebeen
liable undemMonellfor the alleged constitutional violations. However, because
there were n@roperty or liberty interests amab constitutional violations, Entiat is
not liable under section 1983.

4. Qualified Immunity Relating to Ms. Driver

Defendantsnvoke qualified immunity on behalf of Ms. Driver. ECF No. 5
9. Again, the Court finds that there was no deprivation of rights, but analyzes N
Driver's qualified immunity argument to complete the record.

Qualified immunityis “an entitlement not to stand trial or fabe tother
burdens of litigation.”Saucier v. Katz533 U.S. 194, 200 (2001) (internal quotes
omitted),abrogated in part on other grounds by Pearson v. Callab&b U.S. 223
(2009). When government officials involgualified immunityfrom suit, courts
must decide the claim by applying a twart analysis: (1) whether the conduct of
the official, viewed in th light most favorable to plaintiff, violated a constitutiona
right; and (2) whether the right was clearly established at the time of the allege
violation. See Pearsqrb55 U.S. at 2336. “[G]overnment officials performing
discretionary functions [arentitled to]qualified immunity, shielding them from
civil damages liability as long as theictions could reasonably have been though
consistent with the rights they aakeged to have violatedAnderson v. Creighton,

483 U.S. 635, 638 (1987 ualified immunity gives government officials

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT~17

at




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

18

20

21

“breathing room to make reasonable but mistaken judgments about open legal
guestions.” Ashcroftv. atKidd, 563 U.S.731,743(2011)

Defendants argue that Mr. Quezaaleks evidence to establish that Ms.
Driver violatedMr. Quezada federal rightsand thashewould beentitled to
gualifiedimmunity even if such a violation was foun&CF No. 5 at 4€.
Defendants also assert tlitavas objectively reasonable fbts. Driver to believe
that her actions in draftg a workforce reorganization pldid not violate any
clearly establishethw or federal constitutional rightid. at 10.

Mr. Quezada does not challenge or oppose Defendants’ arguments rega
Ms. Driver’s entitlement to qualified immunityl hereforethe Court viewslaintiff
as conceding that Ms. Driver is entitled to qualified immunityaddition, Ms.
Driver did not dgrive Mr. Quezada of any liberty or property interegthout due
processvhen she proposed to eliminate the Park Supervisor position. Without
denial ofdue process, there is nonstitutional violation, even when taking the
evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Quezada.

Taking all of the arguments related to Mr. Quezada’s section 1983 claim
consideration, the Court finds that Mr. Quezada has failed to raise a genuine is
material fact regarding his section 1983 claim because he did not have a props
liberty interest. Therefore, Mr. Quezada could not have deriedhis interests

without due process in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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The Court finds that summary judgment in favoalbDefendants regarding
Mr. Quezada’s section 1983 clam appropriate and dismisses Mr. Quezada’s
section 1983 claims with prejudice.
B. Plaintiff's State Law Claims

1. Racial Discrimination Claim Under WLAD

The Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAPJ)ohibits racial
discrimination in employment. Wash. Rev. Code § 49.60.¥88shingtorcourts
examine WLAD claims by applying tidcDonnell Douglasurdenshifting
framework. See Mikkelsen v. Publtil. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas @/., 404 P.3d 464,
470 (Wash. 2017)McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Gregdll U.S. 792 (1973).

UnderMcDonnell Douglasthe initial burden lies with the plaintiff to
“establish[] a prima facie casd racial discrimination.”McDonnell Douglas411
U.S. at 802. Once a prima facie case is established, “[t}he burden then must s
the employer to articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the
employee’s [discharge].1d. If the enployer meets this intermediate burden, the
plaintiff is given an opportunity to discredit the employer’s explanation by show
that it was “a coverup for a racially discriminatory decisiold’at 805. The
plaintiff must do more than show “that the employer’s explanation of its action \
not believable.”St. Mary’s Honor Ctr. v. Hick09 U.S. 502, 5345 (1993). The
plaintiff must prove “that the employer’s action was the product of unlawful

discrimination.” Id. at 514.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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a. Prima Facie Case of Discrimmation

Mr. Quezada has the initial burden to establish a prima facie case of
discrimination by “showing that (1) [he] was within a statutorily protected class,
[he] was discharged by the defendant, (3) [he] was doing satisfactory work, an(
after[his] discharge, the position remained open and the employer continued tc
applicants with qualifications similar to [his own]Mikkelsen404 P.3cat470.

The Cityargueghat Mr. Quezada hastestablished a prima facie case without
expressly stating which elements of his daseit disputes. ECF No. 5 at 12; ECH
No. 11 at 5.Mr. Quezada argudkathe has proven a prima facie discrimination
case. ECF No. 8 at3

The parties agree that the first two elements are satisfied, bédause
Quezada belongs to a protected class and he suffered an adverse employment
The parties disputihe third and fourth elements.

For the third element, Mr. Quezada must show that he was doing satisfad
work before the City eliminated his positioBee Mikkelser®04 P.3cat470. The
Defendants argued that the City “decided to hire a Park Supervisor to manage
Park so that the Public Works Director would be free to work on projects in the
broader city with the rest of the Public Works crew.” ECF No. 6 at 3. The City

wanted the Park Supervisor to “train for water and sewericatidn [in the off

season] and . work a different schedule during the summer to cover weekendg i

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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the park so that [the Public Works Director] would not have to be available on t

weekends.”Id.

he

Defendants argue that Mr. Quezada was not performing satisfactory work as

the Park Supervisor. On June 12, 2015, Susan Driver conducted a preliminary
internal evaluation of Mr. Quezad&CF No. 61 at 4648. The evalation gave Mr.
Quezada “marginal” or “needs improvement” marks in several areas, including
position knowledge, quantity of work, initiative, cooperation, and dependabdity.
Ms. Driver testified at her deposition that Mr. Quezada had problems with
absenteeism, yelling and cussing at other employeesjaedponsiveess to work
matters ECF 102 at 24.

Mr. Quezada claims that Ms. Driver’s evaluation is “deceptive” and that s
never gave it to him or anyone else. ECF No. 8 at 9; ECF No. 9 &dt6l Ann

McLester, the City’s Deputy Clerk, testified during her deposition that Mr.

Quezada’s immediate supervisor, Mike Herdt, was pleased with his work. ECH

10-1 at 13, 28. However, Mr. Herdt's own testimony is absent from the record.
Mayor Keith Vradenburg testified during his deposition that he was not aware g
issues with Mr. Quezada’s workd. at 25. In addition, he City concedes that Mr.
Quezada’s position was eliminated due to a reorganization of the Public Works
Department, not du® Mr. Quezada’s poor work performance. ECF No. 5 at 2;

ECF No. 6 at 14.1.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Quezada, the non

moving party, there is at least a dispute of material fact as to whether Mr. Quez

performed satisfactory work. On one hand, Ms. Driver claims there were seve
problems with Mr. Quezada’s work, including rude behavior, texting on the job,
taking unexcused absences. ECF No. 6@t ®n the other hand, Mr. Quezada
argues that his direct supervisor and the mayor had no issudsgdirehrd no
iIssues, with Mr. Quezada’s job performance. ECF No. 9-a1dhe Court finds
that adispute of material fagxistson the third element regarding whetihr.
Quezadavas performing satisfactory work.

For the fourth element, Mr. Quezada must show that after eliminating his
position, the City continued to seek applicants with qualifications similar to his (¢
Mikkelsen404 P.3d at 470Defendants assdtiattheydecided to eliminate the
Park Supervisopositionand added a new position in Public Wobexausehe City
of Entiatimmediatelyneededaqualified employeeavith water and sewer
certification to cover foMike Herdtwhen he was awayeECF No. 6 at 10Mr.
Quezada contends that Defendantsffered reason is pretext and tigt
eliminating his position, the City “intended to create additional Public Works
positions that performed [his same] job duties.” ECF No. 9 at 15.

While Defendants contend that no one was hired to replace Mr. Quezads
because his position was eliminated, the City sought to hire a person who alrea

had water and sewer certificaticafser eliminating Mr. Quezada’s positiofeCF

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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No. 101 at 41. The record reflects thhae City was unsuccessful in hiring someo
who alreadywas water and seweertified and nstead, hired a maintenance works
who had similar qualification to Mr. Quezada ando becamevaterand sewer
certified on the job. ECF No. 1Dat 42.

The evidence supports that the City of Entiat attempted tacer.
Quezada, who was not water and sewer certified, with an employee who was
and sewer certifiedHowever, since the new position in Public Works was filled
with someone who had qualifications similar to Mr. Quezada, the Court will
examine whether the City of Entiat’s proffered explanation is pretextual.

Legitimate, NonDiscriminatory Reason for Termination

If the Court finds that Mr. Quezada has established a prima facie case, tf
rebuttable presumption of discrimination is creat8deTex Dep’t of Cnty. Affairs
v. Burdine 450 U.S. 248, 254 (1981)'he burden then shifts to the City “to
articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reddon eliminating Mr. Quezada’s
position. McDonnell Douglas411 U.S. at 802At this stage, th€ity “merely [has]
a burden of production, not of persuasioflill v. BCTI Income Fundl, 23 P.3d
440, 446 (\Wash.2001),abrogated on other grounds by Mikkelsé84 P.3d at 473

see alsdBurding 450 U.Sat 257("the employer need onlyroduceadmissble

ne

vater

en a

evidence which would allow the trier of fact rationally to conclude that [its decislion

was not] motivated by discriminatory animus”).

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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The City asserts that it eliminated Mr. Quezada'’s position in order to allo¢

resources from Parks to Public WorksCF No. 5 at 2. The Citgrgueghat it
needed an additional employee with the Statpiired water certification to fill in
for the Public Works Director when he went on vacation. ECF No. 6 at 10. Th
City formulated a plan to reorganize the Public Works DepartmdntThe City’s
plan involved “eliminating the Park Supervisor position and going back to the
previous strategy of using a Park Host couple.”

The Court finds that the Defendants have produced ample evidence of nq

discriminatory reasons for eliminating Mr. Quezada’s position with the City. Th

were several reasotisatthe City chose to eliminate the Park Supervisor position.

First, the City needed someone with the necessary certifications immediately, |
person who would traion the job and eventually receive it, to save the city from
liability concerns whemike Herdtwas away. ECF No. 6 at 10. Second, the Cit)
concludel thata person withwatercertifications would be bett@lacedin Public
Works rather tham Parks because the previous Park Host arrangement with
seasonal employees could handle the workload that Parks reddiratd12. Third,
the Cityconcluded thait needed someone who could work directly with the Publ
Works director and eventually replace haspecially considerintpe troublethat
the current director haghcountereavith some park patrons. ECF No.-2@t 15.
The Defendants have met their burden in producingdmseriminatory

reasons for terminating Mr. Quezada’s position.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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b. Plaintiff's Proof of Discrimination

If the Court finds that the City has satisfied its burdeproducing non
discriminatory reasons for eliminating Mr. Quezada’s position, then the presum
of discrimination is rebuttedSee Hil| 23 P.3d at 446. The burden th&hifts back
to Mr. Quezada to offer proof of discriminatioBee St. Mary;s509 U.S. at 511To
meet this burden and overcome summary judgment, Mr. Quezada must offer
“sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact either (1) that the
employer’s articulated reason for its action is pretextual or (2) that although the
employer’s stated reason is legitimate, discrimination nevertheless was a subs
factor motivating the employer.Scrivenew. Clark Coll, 334 P.3d 541, 544 (Wash
2014) (citing McDonnell Douglas411 U.Sat792).

Mr. Quezada claims that the City “implemented a reorganization as prete
terminate [him] for being Hispanic.” ECF No. 8 atir. Quezada proffers
circumstantial evidence of discrimination, suchhesgquestion that Ms. Driver aske
during his interviewegarding the authshipof his cover letter and a comment
made that she needed “to fire that kidid at 810. However, Mr. Quezada does n

offer anyevidencdinking those comments to racial animus, or any evidémce

support the inference that his race was a factor in the City’s decision to elimina
position.
Althoughthe City does not dispute that Ms. Driver asked Mr. Quezada dy

his interview if he wrote his own cover lettéts. Driver's explanation for asking

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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the question was that a lot of people do not write their own cover letters and sh
thought that Mr. Quezada’s was well written. ECF No. 11 &tite Cityalsodoes
not dispute that Ms. Driver said, “I need to fire that kidfeference to Mr.
Quezada.ld. Ms. Driver's explanation for making the comment was that Mr.
Quezada had beemaccountabléor five hoursduring a work day Id. For each of
Mr. Quezada’'s examples of alleged discriminatdetendants provide evidence of
nondiscriminatory explanatisn

While a plaintiff is not required to “introduce additional, independent
evidence of discrimination” to survive summary judgment, the Court may consi
“the strength of the plaintiff's prima facie case, the probative valldee proof that
the employer’s explanation is false, and any other evidence that supports the
employer’s case” to determine whether summary judgment is approfRietvey.
Sanderson Pulmbing Prod$30 U.S133,14849(2000) Mr. Quezada offersm
evidence to support his claim that Ms. Driver “disliked him because he is Hispa
or that “she thought he looked incapable.” ECF No. 8 at 8. Ms. Driver testified
she liked Mr. Quezada, but that she “thought he was not good for the City.” EC
No. 10-2 at 16. However, even if Ms. Driver disliked Mr. Quezada as he allege
Mr. Quezada did not produeeidence showing this was due to discriminatory
animus.

The Court is aware that, in Washington, “[sjummary judgment for an

employeris seldom apprapmate in employment discrimination cases because of t

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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difficulty of proving discriminatory motivation.Mikkelsen 404 P.3d at 471.
“When the record contains reasonable but competing inferences of both
discrimination and nondiscrimination, the trieffa€t must determine the true
motivation.” Scriveney 334 P.3d at 545. The burddmatthe plaintiff in an
employment discrimination must meet, then, is rather low: “the plaintiff needs t
show only that a reasonable jury could find that discrimination was a substantid
factor in the employer’s adverse employment actidvlikkelsen 404 P.3d at 471.

Here,beyond mere conclusory allegations, Mr. Quez#akzs not provide
evidence that the elimination of his position was eithettgxaual, or that his race
was a substantial factor in the elimination of his positiaeid. While Mr.
Quezada claims that Ms. Driver disliked him and got rid of him because of her
agenda, no evidence presented by Mr. Quezada supports his conclusions. BG
at 2. Mr. Quezadaalsodoes not contend that he applied for the new position tha
was createdbut was not selectedVithoutanyevidence that the City’s
reorganization plan which terminated Mr. Quezaga'sition was motivated by
racial animus, Mr. Quezada’s WLAD claim fails.

Thereis no evidencén the record that the City of Entiat eliminated Mr.
Quezada’s position because of racial animustoany discriminatory reasonthe
Court finds no dispute of material fact on the issue of employment discriminatid
under WLAD. Theefore, theCourt gran$ Defendantssummary judgment motion

on Mr. Quezada’s discrimination claims

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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2. Breach of Contract
Mr. Quezada amended complaint alleges a cause of aehrtitied “Breach

of Contract / Specific Performance / Promissasyoppel against the City of Entiat

ECF No. 13.
It is unclear from Mr. Quezada’s complaint what contrectllegeshatthe
City breached SeeECF No. 13 at 3. In his response to Defendants’ motion for

summary judgment, Mr. Quezada claithat the cotract involvedair working
conditions or promises of job security or fair treatment. ECF No. 842 1Mt oral
argument, Mr. Quezada’s coungalicatedthat the breach of contract claim
involved the broken promise of a pgrmination hearing.

Even n the employment context, contracts are defined by offer, acceptan
and considerationStorti v. Univ. of Wash330 P.3d 159, 163 (Wash. 2014f)a
contract is found, the plaintiff must prove that the contract imposes a duty, the
Is breached, and the breach proximately causes plaintiff's dam@gei31 Props.,
Inc. v. First Am. Title Ins. Cp301 P.3d 500, 503 (Wash. Ct. App. 2013). To attg
legal liability for breach of contract, the terms of the breached contract must be

sufficiently definte. Keystone Land & Dev. Co. v. Xerox Co@4 P.3d 945, 949

ce,

duty

ch

(Wash. 2004). “In Washington an employer has the right to discharge an employee,

with or without cause, in the absence of a contract for a specified period of time.

Roberts vAtl. Richfied Co, 568 P.2d 764, 767 (Wash. 197abrogated on other

grounds by Mikkelse®04 P.3d at 464.
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Here, Mr. Quezada has not specifically defined the terms of the alleged
contract between Mr. Quezada and the City. As to his employment with the cit
absenproof of a contract for employment for a specific period of time, there is 1
breach of contract claim when the employeteiminatedbecause the employee is
atwill. Roberts568 P.2d at 767. As to any claims of a contract created by the
city’s persomel policies, the policiehemselvepreclude any argument that they
create a contract: “These policies are not intended to be a contract, express or
implied, or any type of promise or guarantee of specific treatment upon which y
may rely, or as a guartee of employment for any specific duration.” ECF NQ4. 6
at9.

While employers may be bound by the statements in their employment
manuals, the manual will not create a contract when they “specifically state in

conspicuous manner that nothing corgditherein is intended to be part of the

employment relationship and are simply general statements of company policy}

Thompson v. St. Regis Paper (&85 P.2d 1081, 1088 (Wash. 1984). Here,
because the City’s personnel policies state in no uncertans tieatthey do not
constitutea contract, express or implied, its terms cannot be enforced against tt
City in a breach of contract clainfrinally, as explained above, Mr. Quezada was
not entitled to a preermination hearing because he was still a gtiobary

employee.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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The Court findghatthe City did not breach any contract with Mr. Quezada
and summary judgment is appropriate on those grounds.

3. Specific Performance

Within his breach of contract claims, Mr. Quezada asks the Court to enfo
specifc performance against the City. ECF N3 &t3. At oral argument, counse
indicated that Mr. Quezada was asking the Court to compel the Ciphaodd its
end of the bargain, in that the City promised Mr. Quezada continued, permane
employment if hedft hispreviousjob to become the Park Supervisor.

Specific performance is an equitable remedy for breach of contdatiuer
v. Certain 575 P.2d 732, 737 (Wash. Ct. App. 197H8gre, specific performance ig
improper because, as stated above, no contract was breached in thisheastare,
Mr. Quezada is not due any remedyhus, the Court grants summary judgment tqg
the City on Mr. Quezada'’s claim for specific performance.

4. Promissory Estoppel

Mr. Quezada claims that, under the doctrine of promissory estoppel, Enti
made a promise to Mr. Quezada of continued employment and the opportunity
obtain certificationsandMr. Quezada relied on that promise to his detriment by
quitting his highetpaying job, and thus is entitled to damages. BGF1-3 at 3;
ECF No. 8 at 12. The City disputes that it made any sort of legally enforceablg

promise. ECF No. 5 at 17.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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Promissory estoppel has five elements: “(1) [a] promise which (2) the
promisor should reasonably expect to cause the pretaisdame his position and
(3) which does cause the pronase change his position (4) justifiably relying upg
the promise, in such a manner that (5) injustice can be avoidedyoahfdrcement

of the promise.”"Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc876 P.2d 435, 442 (Wash. 1994)

(quotingKlinke v. Famous Recipe Fried Chicken, Ji&l6 P.2d 644 (Wash. 1980)).

When an employee claims promissory estoppel following-awilattermination, the

promise involved must be clear and definikbavens 876 P.2d at 443.

n

Mr. Quezada claims that he detrimentally relied on the City’s promise cf long

term employment, in which he could work towaatdainingthe necessary
certifications for his job and better his city. ECF No. 8 at 12. When he took the
at Entiat, he leftis previous, highepaying job, looking for a position with a more
secure futureld. The specific promisthatMr. Quezada claisiEntiat offereds
the promise of continued employment with the city., ECF No. 13 at 3.

Mr. Quezada’s claim for prmissory estoppel is similar to the plaintiff's clair
in Havens In Havens an employee claimed promissory estoppel when, upon b
hired, the employer statedat“they were looking forward to a long and prosperod
future together,” and the employee icatedthathe wanted to work faihe
employer until his retirementdavens 876 P.2d at 444. The Supreme Court of
Washington found that such statements by employers “are consistent with the

general expectation present in any such negotiation: the employer was hoping

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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and expecting a lontgrm, mutually satisfactory relationshipld. Further, an
employee’s own expectations “do not constitute a promise by the empldger.”
Similar toHavens Mr. Quezada relies on alleged promises of {tarq,
continued employment with the City made when he was first hired. Such prom
cannot be considered promises upon which Mr. Quezada can rest a promissor

estoppetlaim. Additionally, his own subjente expectations about the nature of t

employment relationship do not support the existence of a specific, enforceablé¢

promise. Thus, his promissory estoppel claim fails.

Even if the promise of continued employment was enforceable under
promissory estoppel, Mr. Quezada’s reliance on alleged promises ofumahti
performance would not be justifiable. Mr. Quezada’s offer letter expressly stats

thatthe first six months of his employment was probationary. ECF Naatt%.

Ses

y
he

v

D
o

The personnel policies state that a probationary employee can be fired at any time

without a preermination hearingld. at 42. While Mr. Quezada himself might
have believed he was guaranteed {#mgn employment, his offer letter and the
personnel policies prove otherwise. Thus, evérifQuezada had believed ttiae
statementdy Entiat were enforceable promises under promissory estoppel, Mr.
Quezada’s reliance on those promises was not justifiable.

The Court finds that Mr. Quezada'’s promissory estoppel claim lacksandri

grants Defendants’ summary judgment motion on this claim.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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5. Breach of Promise of Specific Treatment in Specific Circumstances
Mr. Quezada claimthatthe City made promises to him for specific treatme

in specific circumstances, and subsequently breached that promise. EGB alo.

3-4. Relying onThompsa, Mr. Quezada claims that the City’s personnel policie$

madepromises of continued, loAgrm employment and fair treatment in
termination, and that the City subsequently breached the policies’ promises. H
No. 8 at 1216. Entiat argues that the policies cannot support a claim for specifi
treatment in specific circumstances. ECF No. 11Hd.8

Specific treatment in specific circumstances is an employment contract ¢
thatrelies onan exception to the normal terminablenait relationship betweean
employee and an employefFhompson685 P.2d at 1089. When evaluatang
breach of specific treatment in specific circumstances bass@i@ments in an
employee handbook, the court must const{lerwhether any statements therein
amounted to promiseof specific treatmd in specificsituations (2) if so, whether
the employee justifiably relied on any of these promises; and, finally, (3) wheth
any promises of specific treatment were breach&iiiman v. Safeway, In@Q7
P.3d 1172, 11745 (Wash2001). While these elements are issues of fact, sumi
judgment is still appropriate if there is no dispute of material fact regarding the
specific treatment promisedbee, e.gSwanson v. Liquid Air Corp826 P.2d 665,
669 (Wash. 1992) (“[I]f reasonable minds cannot differ as to whether language

sufficiently constitutes an offer or a promise of specific treatment in specific

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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circumstances, as a matter of law the claimed promise cannot be part of the
employment relationship.”)While the policies wilbe interpreted as a whole to
determine whether they make any sort of specific pronsseskohn v. GaPac.

Corp, 850 P.2d 517, 522 (Wash. Ct. App. 1993), the employer can disclaim wh
otherwise might be enforceable promises with-nonspicuous langige. Swanson

826 P.2d at 672.

at

Here, Mr. Quezada cannot show that Entiat promised him specific treatment

In specific circumstances. First, there is no specific promise of continued
employment anywhere in the personnel policieeeECF No. 61 at 844. In fact,
the policies expressly state that they do not create “a guarantee of employmen
any specific duration.’ld. at 9. Second, as discussed above, Mr. Quezada was
entitled to a preéermination hearing because he was still a probationapjoyee
when his position was eliminated.

Even if the personnel policie®uld be interpreted as makisgecific
promises, th@romisesare not enforceable because the policies disclaim any
contract, express or implied, that they might cre®#€F No. 61 at 9. The
disclaimer is conspicuous and clearly states that the policies do not create “any
of promise or guarantee of specific treatment upon which [an employee] may r¢
Id. This disclaimer makes any alleged promise of specific treatment policees

unenforceable Swanson826 P.2d at 672.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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Mr. Quezada relies dkohn, in which aWashington Appellate Court held th:
anemployee’s employment status was a dispute of materialKattn, 850 P.2d at
522. In Kohn, an employee sued her employer for breach of specific treatment
specific circumstances after her position was eliminated while she was away o
medical leave, arguing that her employer promised to rehire her after her medi
leave was overld. at 520. Her employer argued that theras no breach because
the employee policies stated her position wasikht meaning she could be fired at
any time and was not promised any kind of specific treatmdnat 522. While the
handbook did state the plaintiff's employment wawil; the appellate court found
that the phrase wdmerely one phrase among many statements purporting to
government employment termination and job eliminatidd.” Thus, the employee
was allowed to argue a claim of breach of specific treatment in specific
circumstances notwithstanding the policies’ statement that her employment wa
will. 1d.

Kohnis distinguishable from the present case. There is no suggestion th
policies inKohncontained the disclaiménatEntiat’s policies haveexpressly
stating thatthe policies do not make any promise of continued employment or
specific treatment. ECF No-Bat 9. Even if Mr. Quezada could point to specifig
statements guaranteeing future employment or-dégpnaéination hearing as a

probationary employee, the disclaimer in the policies in conspicuous language

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY
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defeats any claim he might have to specific treatment in specific circumstances.

Swanson826 P.2d at 672.

The Courtfinds thatthere was no breach of an implied contract or specific
promises, andrants the City’s motion for summary judgment on Mr. Quezada’s
claim for breach of promise of specific treatment in specific circumstances.

6. Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Public Policy Claim

Lastly, Mr. Quezada claintbatthe City and Ms. Driver terminated Mr.
Quezadas employmentn violation of public policy. ECF No.-B at 4. The basis
of Mr. Quezada’s claim is that race discrimination violates public policy, and in
terminating Mr. Quezada positionon the basis of his race, Defendants violated
Washington public policyld.; ECF No. 8 at 14.7. At oral argument, Mr. Quezad
stated that his wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim was intertw
with his WLAD claim. Defendants argue that this cld@tks merit ECF No. 5 at
19.

Wrongful discharge in violation of public policy is an intentional tort.
Korslund v. DynCorp TfCities Servs., Inc125 P.3d 119, 1225 (Wash. 2005),
overruled on other grounds by Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain358.P.3d 1139
(Wash. 2015). To prouhe intentional tort, the plaintiff must show (1) the
existence of a clear public policy; (2) discouraging the employee’s conduct by
terminationwould jeopardize public policy; (3) the public policy conduct caused

dismissal; and (4) the employerusable to offer a different justification for the
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dismissal.Rose 358P.3d at 1143. This tort action hasly been allowed in four
situations: “(1) where employees are fired for refusing to commit an illegal act;
where employees are fired for performing a public duty or obligation, such as
serving jury duty; (3) where employees are fired for exercising a legal right or
privilege, such as filing workers’ compensation claims; (4) where employees af
fired in retaliation for reporting employer miscondug,, whistleblowing.”
Gardner v. Loomis Armored In®@13 P2d 377, 379 (Wash. 1996).

Mr. Quezada’s claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy d(
not stand on one of the four grounds identifieGardrer. Instead, his claim rests
on his assertion that he “was discharged for being Hispanic, in violation of
Washington State Public Policy.” ECF No. 8 at 17. Just as Mr. Quezada’s rac
discrimination claim cann@urvivesummary judgment, this claim also
unsupported by the evidencEirst, as stated above, Mr. Quezada’s claim under 1
WLAD failed as a matter of law. Second, Washington courts have not identifie
termination because of racial discrimination as a protectable public policy unde
tort. See Gardner913 P.3d at 379

Therefore, theCourt grants summary judgment to Defendants on Mr.
Quezada’s claim of wrongful termination in violation of public policy.

I 11
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CONCLUSION

None of Mr. Quezada’s claims survegummary judgment. There is no
dispute of material fact, and Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on :
claims against them.

Accordingly,IT IS HEREBY ORDERED::

1. Defendants’ Motion for Summary JudgmeBCF No. 5 isGRANTED.

2. Plaintiff's claims areDISMISSED with PREJUDICE.

3. Judgment shall be entered in favoD&EFENDANTS.

IT IS SO ORDERED. The District Court Clerks directed to enter this

Order, enter judgment in favor Diefendantsprovide copies to counselndclose

this case
DATED September 7, 2018
s/ Rosanna Malouf Person
ROSANNA MALOUF PETERSON
United States District Judge
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